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1. Name of Property
Historic name: Little River Rural Historic District
Other names/site number: VDHR File No. 030-5579
Name of related multiple property listing:
N/A
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing

2. Location Roughly bounded on E by SR 629, on N by SR 776 & USR 50, on W by Cromwell’s
Run RHD, on S % mile N of SR 55, and on SE by Broad Run RHD

City or town: The Plains State: VA County: Fauquier

Not For Publication: | /a Vicinity: | x

3. State/Federal Agency Certification
As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

I hereby certify that this _X nomination ___ request for determination of eligibility meets
the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic
Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property X  meets __ does not meet the National Register Criteria.
I recommend that this property be considered significant at the following
level(s) of significance:

___national ___statewide X __local
Applicable National Register Criteria:
X_A __ B X_C _ D
Signature of certifying official/Title: Date

Virginia Department of Historic Resources

State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property _ meets __ does not meet the National Register criteria.

Signature of commenting official: Date
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or Tribal Government
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4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that this property is:

__entered in the National Register

__determined eligible for the National Register
__determined not eligible for the National Register
__removed from the National Register

___other (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action

5. Classification
Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply.)

Private: X
Public — Local X
Public — State X
Public — Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Building(s)

District X

Site

Structure

Object
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Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
849 1,237 buildings
79 35 sites
515 440 structures
2 5 _ objects
1,445 1,719 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register *77
*4 buildings have since been demolished in Burrland Historic District, but not subtracted from total, see inventory

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling, Multiple Dwelling, Secondary Structure
LANDSCAPE/Natural Feature — River, Mountain, Valley, Meadow
OTHER/Stone Wall/Fence,

FUNERARY/Cemetery, Burying Ground

RECREATION and CULTURE/Sports Facility
AGRICULTURE/SUBSISTENCE/ Processing, Storage, Agricultural Field,
Agricultural Outbuilding, Animal Facility, Horticultural Facility
INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/Manufacturing Facility, Waterworks,
DEFENSE/Battle Site

TRANSPORTATION/Road Related (vehicular)

Current Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling, Multiple Dwelling, Secondary Structure
LANDSCAPE/Natural Feature — River, Mountain, Valley, Meadow
OTHER/Stone Wall/Fence

FUNERARY/Cemetery, Burying Ground

RECREATION and CULTURE/Sports Facility
AGRICULTURE/SUBSISTENCE/Processing, Storage, Agricultural Field, Agricultural
Outbuilding, Animal Facility, Horticultural Facility
INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/Manufacturing Facility, Waterworks
TRANSPORTATION/Road Related (vehicular)

Sections 1-6 page 3



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Little River Rural Historic District Fauquier County, Virginia
Name of Property County and State

7. Description

Architectural Classification

(Enter categories from instructions.)

OTHER/Hall-Parlor, Single Cell, Center Hall

EARLY REPUBLIC/Roman Revival, Federal

MID-19™" CENTURY/Greek Revival

LATE 19" AND 20™ CENTURY REVIVALS/Colonial Revival, Classical Revival

LATE 19™ AND EARLY 20™ CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS/
Bungalow/Craftsman

MODERN MOVEMENT/Ranch, Neoeclectic, Neocolonial, Minimal Traditional

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: STONE/Sandstone, Limestone, Slate;
BRICK; TERRA COTTA; CONCRETE/Cinder Block; WOOD/Log, Timber-Frame, Frame,
Weatherboard, Board and Batten, Shingle; STUCCO; METAL/Tin, Copper, Iron

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style,
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has
historic integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

Containing over 23,000 acres including the land of five individually-listed properties, the Little River
Rural Historic District is composed of the northeastern region of Fauquier County between The Plains
and Middleburg (south-north) and the Bull Run Mountains and Cromwell’s Run (east-west) in the
watershed of Little River, a tributary of the state scenic river, Goose Creek, that flows north into Loudoun
County and the Potomac. The western boundary of the Little River district follows the eastern perimeter
of the Cromwell’s Run Rural Historic District (030-5434). The southeastern border joins the northwestern
line of the Broad Run/Little Georgetown Rural Historic District (030-5514). The Fauquier County part of
the Middleburg Battlefield, south of John S. Mosby Highway, lies within the Little River area. The
district extends approximately eight miles vertically, south to north and varies to about six-and-three-
quarter-miles wide, west to east. Lying near the base of the Blue Ridge Mountain range on the west and
below the Bull Run Mountains on the east, the Little River Rural Historic District is the definitive model
of the characteristics of the Piedmont region’s topography. Established in Goshen, New York, in 1900
and officially relocated to Fauquier County in 1903, the Orange County Hunt is the geographical and
recreational heart of the territory.*

Since settlement in the late eighteenth century, the pastoral agricultural landscape has remained fertile and
green by the headwaters of Little River and other Goose Creek tributaries: Cromwell’s Run, Long Branch
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of the Little River, Whitewood Branch, Burnt Mill Run, Bartons Branch, and Hungry Run in their
drainage from surrounding mountain ranges. Tall, white, sycamores and oaks landmark these glistening
waterways. The landscape features stone, rail, and board-fenced, undulated pastures of grazing black
Angus, Holstein, and Longhorn cattle, thoroughbred hunter, race, and event horses, Connemara,
Dartmoor, and Nokota ponies, sheep, goats, and poultry. Several farms engage in honeybee revitalization
as shown by stacked wooden hives near gardens or fencerows. Glen-Ora on Green Peace Lane provides
shelter for rescued horses, donkeys, and potbelly pigs. There are numerous natural slate and stone
quarries. The rising landscape embraces frequent notable bank barns, bank houses, stables, training tracks,
stone, concrete, and metal grain silos, building ruins, and forgotten family cemeteries. There are two
successful wineries. Domestic sites exhibit a variety of sturdy farmhouses with several dating to the late
eighteenth century, and some high-style, nineteenth-century variations that were further embellished with
stylish and grand, twentieth-century additions for their transition and preservation into hunt boxes. Roads,
typically named for their course of travel, such as to Zulla, to Whitewood, to Landmark, to Rock Hill
Mill, to Halfway, and to Logans Mill, wind through lush fields and forests. The majority of the roads
remain unpaved, the preference of landowners, who often maintain them.

The district is architecturally represented by a diversity of styles including log-and-frame vernacular,
Roman Revival, Federal, and Greek Revival from the late-eighteenth century through the nineteenth
century. The Colonial Revival style was particularly popular from 1900 through the 1940s on respectful
modifications to earlier residences by renowned architects such as William Lawrence Bottomley, Bradley
Delehanty, Irwin Fleming, Horatio W. Olcott, George S. Howe, and others favored by Long Islanders.
One prominent Bungalow/Craftsman Sears dwelling calls attention to Neill’s Corner on Zulla Road. The
Modern Movement is present in a variation of the Ranch style, articulated in brick and stone, on Halfway
Road. There are nearly 1,500 contributing resources and around 1,700 noncontributing resources within
the Little River Rural Historic District. The cultural evolution of farming practices and the cost of labor
soon after World War 1l caused a higher number of noncontributing resources. Earlier farmers more
efficiently used barns to shelter horses and cattle during hot or inclement weather, as well as for storage.
Rural swimming pools have greatly increased in popularity since the early twentieth century, while
training tracks have become more popular after the 2000 Olympics when an Equestrian team from the
Little River area brought home medals.?

ARCHITECTURAL AND LANDSCAPE DESCRIPTION NARATIVE

All approaches into the Little River Rural Historic District respectfully wind with the hills and valleys
and open into conserved agricultural open space and hunt-country estates with functioning, historic farm
buildings, including early stone dwellings, log houses, and many stately mansions. There are no intrusive
clusters of exactly-alike houses on cul-de-sacs in modern subdivisions, not even on the outer borders.
Aside from the agricultural industry, the stone-walled remains of Logan’s Mill, Haines’s Mill, and the
store of Minor Winn’s Rock Hill Mill were found during the survey, along with one tannery site, that
represent manufacturing in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Three villages with rural post offices,
schools, and a few storehouses, named Zulla on Zulla Road, Halfway on Halfway Road, and Landmark
on Landmark School Road, developed in the nineteenth century, and all were gone too soon.

The Little River

Several Goose Creek tributaries run through the Little River Rural Historic District and flow into the
Little River, giving this historic area its name. This title for the river, first named Hunger Run by the
Piscataway Indians, emerged in the 1740s, as noted in George Byrn’s grant of land “by a branch of Little
River, called by some a branch of Hunger Run.”® Little River was labeled Hunger Run on the plat
attached to the original 1,748-acre John Clarke grant, as corrected from 2,448 acres adjoining John
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Fishback and Thomas Thornton, dated 15 November 1740.* Draining from the Bull Run Mountains
across Bull Run Mountain Road and the former village of Landmark into Little River, a narrow branch of
Hunger Run presently survives under the name of Hungry Run.

Other streams flowing into the Little River in this historic area are Barton’s Branch, named for Burr
Barton and coursing off of the High Acre Ridge and Round Top Mountain from the southeast, Burnt Mill
Run from Middleton Mountain, and Long Branch from Griffith’s Mountain at Halfway. Whitewood and
Jessees branches flow north and east across Whitewood Road into the Little River. The Goose Creek
Association, the sponsor of this nomination, monitors the Goose Creek and its tributaries, including the
Little River, for bacteria. The 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization has more than 600 members in Loudoun
and Fauquier counties who support its mission to protect and preserve the natural resources, open space,
historic heritage, and rural quality of life within the Goose Creek watershed.”

Log Houses
Typically, the surveyed log dwellings in Fauquier County date to the nineteenth century. Five of twenty-

three log houses within the Little River Rural Historic District date to the eighteenth century. However,
nine appear to have been built within the first decade of the nineteenth century. The log Chinn House land
was uncultivated, “being entirely in woods until sometime in or about the year 1773 at which time he
[William Downman] sold the said land to Charles Chinn” (030-0780, 1588 Bittersweet Lane).® The since
stuccoed, one-and-one-half-story, two-bay Chinn House features a six-foot-wide stuccoed-stone chimney
to accommodate corner fireplaces for partitioned, interior rooms, as well as nine-over-nine windows and a
steeply pitched roof. Simon Kenton, the future scout through Kentucky for Daniel Boone and George
Rogers Clarke, reportedly grew up between 1755 and 1771 with his parents, Mark and Mary, “in a small
cabin . . . in a little valley between the mountain known as Round Top and the high hill called High Acre
known as ‘Devil’s Bed’” on the west side of Bull Run Mountain Road.” Yet, no remnant of their log
house in this forested location has been found.

Susanna Weaver Smith’s two-and-one-half-story, two-bay-wide log house on the northeast corner of
Whiting and Prince roads dates to circa 1785. About five years later, a one-and-one-half-story, single-cell,
log dwelling was built in the village that became Landmark in the early nineteenth century. Known as the
Skinner Place (030-0628), the house remains with additions at 2699 Windcrest Lane. Also stuccoed, the
circa 1780, Western View (030-0571) has a single-cell plan and stands one-and-one-half stories tall atop a
substantial hill about a half mile east of Halfway Road. Isaac Foster built his first dwelling of log with a
hall-parlor plan in circa 1805. The house that later became a schoolhouse for the Foster children is known
as the Whitewood Cabin (030-0710).

A property of 300 acres that William S. Pickett of Fruitland (030-0630) called “the Cottage Tract” and
passed down through his family was so named because of the number of log houses upon the sloping
land.? Five log dwellings with stone chimneys designed to suggest construction in the late eighteenth to
mid-nineteenth centuries remain on the sloping landscape including the Altman House (030-0605), West
Riding Farm’s single dwelling (030-5579-0214), Ballantrae’s south of Long Branch Lane (030-5579-
0203), and on Cooper Farm on Long Branch (030-5579-0156). Three of the cottage tract houses are
banked. The log house (030-0744, 3004 Burrland Lane) built for John Crain, Jr., in circa 1810 is also
notable as one of the nineteenth-century log examples that began with just a single room. His brother,
James Crain, constructed a log dwelling in circa 1820 on the property that was incorporated into the
Cotswold Tudor Revival, Stonehedge house (030-0809) in 1919. A fire in the 1980s, during the
ownership of Hugh and Lillian Lynn, burned the oldest log part of the Stonehedge single dwelling, but
restoration followed. The primary residence at 6143 Coon Tree Road on the Tan Yard Farm (030-0660),
has three log sections that began in 1830.
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Late-eighteenth to early-nineteenth-century Stone Dwellings
The earliest stone houses emerged directly from eighteenth-century leases. The tracts that were conveyed
to John Sullivan, Richard Nutt, William Sanford Pickett, William Kenton, John Crain, Francis Hereford,
John Hathaway, John Peyton Harrison to Haines, and John Fishback have been traced back to the earliest
leases. Sullivan built a three-bay-wide, two-and-one-half-story, stone house with a gable roof and
exterior-end stone chimney at 2751 Bull Run Mountain Road in circa 1800 (030-0909). Possessing the
form and characteristics of an eighteenth-century house, the circa 1800, stone dwelling off of the
mountain road on Hungry Run Lane (030-0600) beyond a well-preserved, stone, bank springhouse was
built for John Herndon or Richard Nutt.® Standing one-and-one-half stories tall at the foot of the Bull Run
Mountains in rattlesnake territory, the three-bay, vernacular dwelling features stone quoins, nine-over-six,
double-hung-sash windows, a boxed cornice, wood-shingled gable roof, and interior-end, stone chimneys.
Six-light casement windows illuminate the garret. Noticed through the south-front, six-light casement
window, a tall fireplace with a randle bar and charred ceiling joists, indicated a fire sometime within the
banked, one-and-one-half-story, circa 1855, stone wing on the east side.

In 1779, William Leachman bought fifty acres of one of John Monday’s lots from George Mercer’s
inheritance. Owen Sullivan conveyed William another fifty acres on the west line of the first conveyance
in 1791.%° The surveyed metes and bounds of both parcels plat to show “Leachman’s Road” meandering
up the eastern borders. Presently, an identical meander exists in the Bull Run Mountain Road, and the
bordering western property has a clearing with a stone house, as well as stone fences along the north and
west boundaries of William Leachman’s first parcel. The exterior architectural evidence on the existing
three-bay, one-and-one-half-story, gable-roofed, High Acre Ridge House (030-5579-0041) on the former
Leachman land on 3300 Bull Run Mountain Road conflicts with the above-reported time period, however.
A roughly-chiseled 1824 date stone is on the lower northeast corner of Portland-repointed-stone walls, the
semi-exterior-end, stone chimneys are imbalanced with heavier stacks than shoulders and bases, although
wrought nails are in the overhanging ends of mill-sawn joists for the garret floor. Therefore, the current
stone dwelling on the former William Leachman land appears to be a reconstruction using some recycled
timbers and materials.

John Hathaway of Lancaster County built the one-and-one-half-story, three-bay, gable-roofed Hatherage
(030-0629) with two, semi-exterior-end, stone chimneys between 1772 and 1775.*! Hatherage is located
west of Bull Run Mountain Road near the northeastern boundary of the Little River district. The main
dwelling and farmyard are accessed by a long, private, gravel drive that travels through woods and then
open fields, over Hungry Run, and up a hill to the main dwelling. The house stands on a high point. Built
into the hill that slopes away from the house, a long bank barn is located several yards southeast of the
dwelling. Being just west of the Bull Run Mountain range, the property is rocky and rolls sharply, with
Hungry Run flowing through the center of the parcel, while the majority of the land is cleared and
enclosed with plank fences for dairy and beef cattle. There is a pool, run-in shed, and storage shed in the
back yard to the west of the house. A bank barn, silo, shed, and stone cattle loader to the southeast of the
main dwelling comprise the barnyard complex. The Hatherage dwelling has random-rubble stonework
and two, interesting eave dormers on the east facade, but their authenticity is not certain. John
Hathaway’s leased lot on Thomas Bartlett’s acquisition of part of John Mercer’s vast estate was reclaimed
and later emerged from Maj. Burr Powell’s 2,000-acre half of John Francis Mercer’s tenement. Beginning
in 1851, Gustavus Lafayette Elgin was the first of the family that still owns Hatherage and the adjoining
Mountain Farm.

William Kenton built a one-and-one-half-story, stone dwelling with a gable roof and interior-end-stone

chimney on a 215-acre tract lying between Halfway and Logans Mill roads in circa 1775 (030-5579-
0069)."* His west-facing and early-stuccoed house has since burned, leaving portions of the front- and-
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back walls and all of the gable-end walls standing. The window openings survive on the side elevations,
and one remains intact on the southeast corner of the east rear. Those flanking the former center doorways
on the side-gabled walls retain stone sills or pieces of charred wooden sills. Protected from livestock by a
post-and-rail fence, the ruin is an alluring colonial-settlement feature on the landscape. The William
Kenton Tract also possesses an unusual natural landscape feature called a devil’s bed, composed of a
horizontal bed rock and a headstone, which is just south of the ruin. A devil’s bed is a geological rock
formation that has been considered diabolically megalithic in the case of a fairly flat horizontal bed rock
extending to a headstone.” The historic ruin and bedrock stand out in the background during annual fall
openings of the Orange County Hunt and are now approached from Logans Mill Road.

The three bay, rubble-stone Redmond House with an English basement, a standing-seam-metal, gable
roof, and stone-interior-end chimneys, was built on north Burrland Lane in circa 1800 (030-0547). The
dwelling received a two-and-one-half-story, two-bay, stuccoed-frame addition, also with a raised cellar,
on the east side in 1962. Isaac Foster’s Old Whitewood (030-0561) now exhibits a horse-country estate
setting defining the Little River Rural Historic District, including a historic mansion, domestic
dependencies, stables, and tenant houses within picturesque rolling pastures surrounded by a drystone
fence. This description does not stray far from the appearance of the farm in the nineteenth century. Mr.
Foster built a three-bay, two-and-one-half-story, stone house with a gable roof and semi-interior-end,
stone chimneys in 1818, as the date stone and the chiseled in script, “I Foster,” name stone on the east
facade inform. Two other stones under the corner cornices have the initials, “AR,” evidently those of the
stonemason who has not been identified. The original core features an English basement, corners
embellished with stone quoins, and keystone lintels above nine-over-six, double-hung-sash, wood
windows flanking the double-leaf, raised-panel door under a five-light transom and keystone lintel. A
stone-walled, gable-roofed, one-bay cellar entrance is on the southeast corner of the south elevation on
the main block of Foster’s nicely-detailed house.

Foster’s stone springhouse with a board-and-battened door, a boxed cornice, and wood-shingled, gable
roof faces south from a spring north of the primary single dwelling. The well-maintained springhouse
unusually retains plaster on interior walls and stone shelves for dairy products. The rectangular, stone-
walled well on the east side is filled with spring water through a low, rectangular opening within the
northeast corner of the wall. The timber-framed first story of his bank barn did not survive the Federal
torch during the Civil War. However, the masonry livestock level did, where the stones in the walls have
delamination and orange discoloration caused by exposure to the severe heat of a fire. The timber-framed,
one-and-one-half-story, upper level was reconstructed in circa 1875 and clad in boards and battens.

Isaac’s Old Whitewood’s barnyard, where sociable goats freely roam, is entered through stone gateposts.
The south post now stands without a post-and-wire fence, while a drystone enclosure extends west from
the north post along the farm road to stone gateposts where a gate opens into vast-and-rolling, western
pastures. Meandering, historic, stone fencing encloses the evergreen-shaded barnyard where the old bank
barn takes precedence over large stables on a hillside deep behind the Old Whitewood dwelling. Flocks of
geese waddle in straight lines along the pond valley north of the lot by a patch of woods. Seeming to
watch over Whitewood, the sprawling, Foster-family cemetery, enclosed in a battered-stone fence, is on a
prominent western hilltop.

Montrose (030-0518) is a one-hundred-plus acre farm on the west side of Halfway Road, located just over
two miles north of the town of The Plains. Traditional stone gateposts flank the Halfway-Road entrance
for a long drive through verdant pastures to the stone mansion built about 1805 by John Fishback, the son
of Josiah and grandson of John Fishback, who leased 1,028 acres from Lord Fairfax. Montrose’s domestic
setting encompasses the primary dwelling, a stone meathouse beside the old well, a circa 1810, banked-
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and-log office/overseer’s house, the site of the circa 1870 carriage house that was destroyed in a 2010
storm, and a stone-lined, circular pit of a large icehouse. These domestic resources are on a partly-shaded
ridge where occupants can oversee the land and agricultural buildings. A bank barn and several storage,
machine, and loafing sheds stand in the barnyard that is situated about 200 yards south of the domestic
area. The yard is contained within black-board fencing, while the north farm road to the domestic setting
is bordered by old drystone fences that extend around the front- and-back yards. The pristine landscape is
mostly cleared and rolling, with a pasture behind the dooryard before woods that deeply slope to Little
River along the western perimeter of Montrose Farm.

Stucco, documented during the last survey on the exterior stone walls of Montrose’s Federal-style, single
dwelling, has been removed, revealing fine masonry that was meant to be exposed. Stone quoins define
the corners of the main block, and while the rocks on the walls are not coursed, the stones are large,
shaped, and properly laid. Since removal of the stucco, repointing in lime occurred. The two-and-one-
half-story, four-bay main block has six-over-nine, double-hung-sash, wood windows flanking two
entrances on the east facade. Semi-exterior-end, stone chimneys rise above the standing-seam-metal gable
roof that was covered with wood shingles, originally. The two entrances appear to be original, making
them an unusual feature, correlating with those on Minor Winn’s Rock Hill residence, built in the Federal
style in 1807 (030-5343). Inside, the atypical stairway is centered, enclosed on each side, with entry quite
near to the east front. Faux graining remains on several doors and baseboards, and mantelpieces are more
vernacular than Federal. The architectural evidence, including wooden hinges and pintels on the board-
and-battened, cellar door, mill- sawn and-hewn timbers supporting floors and framing the roof, and the
use of wrought- and hand-headed, crossover-period nails, supports Montrose’s circa 1805 date of
construction.

Pleasant Valley (030-0024) is a seventy-five-acre farm located along the east side of graveled Five Points
Road. The farm surrounds a stately, circa 1815, Federal-style stone dwelling standing behind a tall,
boxwood hedge. Old oak, hickory, and cedar trees shade the house and several dependencies, including a
log meathouse and summer kitchen. Outside of the dooryard, the property is cleared, rolling pastureland
dotted with agricultural buildings that include a stable and several sheds. Constructed for Sarah Powell
Chilton, the two-and-one-half-story, five-bay, Federal-style, stone dwelling has an English basement, a
standing-seam-metal, gable roof, and interior-end, stone chimneys. The corners are enhanced with stone
quoins.

Located on the west side of Old Goose Creek Road, Holly Hill’s driveway begins through stone-entry
gateposts and winds uphill past a duck-filled pond and over a stream, ending at the north side of the
domestic setting (030-5579-0266). The main dwelling rises from a high hill overlooking the pond.
Several mature holly trees shade the stone-fenced, front yard and stone-walled terrace extending from the
facade. The side and back yards are gently sloping and shaded by ancient oaks, maples, walnuts, and
evergreens. The land around the domestic site is rolling pastureland, enclosed with black-board fences.

Uriah Byrne’s circa 1820, stone, Holly Hill dwelling is a particularly well-articulated and preserved, two-
and-one-half-story, rural example of the Roman Classicism style, featuring a broad, three-bay-wide,
gable-fronting main block with four, white, Tuscan columns supporting a deep cornice and pedimented
portico with a white, shiplapped-board tympanum and circular window. The rectangular, stone corner
posts may have been added in the 1940s for greater support to the portico. Although twentieth-century
craftsmanship is exhibited on the classical entrance surround with shouldered egg-and-dart molding and
console brackets supporting a deep cornice upon which a Chippendale gate sets within paired columns
outside a French door on the second floor, it is a noteworthy characteristic. The Neoclassical additions
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and the stone-walled landscaping complement the precedence of the main block. The parapeted rear gable
with twin stone chimneys also adds architectural interest.

Willoughby Farm (030-5579-0247) is east of Frogtown Road and about one-third of a mile south of the
intersection of Frogtown Road with Young and Rock Hill Mill roads. This farm includes a circa 1890,
Colonial Revival-style main dwelling standing back from Frogtown Road in a raised yard that is shaded
by old poplars and surrounded by a stone retaining wall. Dependencies and farm buildings are situated
close to the dooryard similarly to colonial times. The property is not extensive but is surrounded by the
horse pastures and woodlands of neighboring farms, giving it the feeling of being a secluded farmstead.

The front dooryard of the circa 1890 single dwelling is retained by a stone wall, which is broken by a
flight of steps leading up the sidewalk to the front door and by a pair of gateposts distinguishing the
dooryard form the farmyard. There is a pool behind the main dwelling. A modern stone wall retains a
steep portion of the rear yard. A log pump house, a cistern, and a couple of wells are located several yards
to the north of the main dwelling, in a low, grassy area shaded by a row of ancient hickories. Further
north, over a small spring that flows west to east through the property, stands a bank barn with an
attached stable, a nearby chicken house, a fourteen-stall stable to the north of the barn, and a 1960s tenant
house to the west of the stable. A training track is at the southwest corner of the property. Willoughby
Farm features a sprawling agricultural setting when viewed from Frogtown Road.

The largely-agricultural John Cochran farm (030-0692) lies on the northeast side of Landmark School
Road. The northwestern, two-thirds of the property is pasture and crop land, divided from the forested
northeastern third by a long gravel driveway that is bordered by a drystone fence on the east and passes
by the barns before arriving at the primary residence deeper within the property. The manor house stands
on a knoll behind a stone wall that is broken by stone steps within mature boxwoods. The yard is shaded
by mature maple, walnut, willow, and holly trees. The backyard is expansive and appealing, and the
eastern south yard extends to a pond within this verdant domestic setting. This is a gently-rollin